p-ISSN: 2708-2091 | e-ISSN: 2708-3586

DOI(Journal): 10.31703/gsr

DOI(Volume): 10.31703/gsr/.2024(IX) DOI(Issue): 10.31703/gsr.2024(IX.I)



# GLOBAL SOCIOLOGICAL PEVIEW

GLOBAL SOCIOLOGICAL REVIEW HEC-RECOGNIZED CATEGORY-Y

**VOL. IX, ISSUE I, WINTER (MARCH-2024)** 



Double-blind Peer-review Research Journal www.gsrjournal.com
© Global Sociological Review



# Humanity Publications (HumaPub)

www.humapub.com
Doi:https://dx.doi.org/10.31703



#### Article title

Exploring the Experiences of Midwives in the Provision of Postpartum Contraceptive Counselling to Rural Women in Pakistan: A Qualitative Approach

Global Sociological Review

**p-ISSN**: 2708-2091 **e-ISSN**: 2708-3586

DOI(journal): 10.31703/gsr

Volume: IX (2024)

**DOI (volume):** 10.31703/gsr.2024(IX)

Issue: I Winter (March-2024)

**DOI(Issue):** 10.31703/gsr.2024(IX-I)

Home Page www.gsrjournal.com

Volume: IX (2024)

https://www.gsrjournal.com/Current-issues

Issue: I-Winter (March-2024)

https://www.gsrjournal.com/Current-issues/9/1/2024

Scope

https://www.gsrjournal.com/about-us/scope

Submission

https://humaglobe.com/index.php/gsr/submissions

Google Scholar



Visit Us











#### **Abstract**

This study was conducted to examine the challenges faced by midwives in providing postpartum contraceptive counseling services to women in the rural area of Lahore city of Punjab Province, Pakistan. A qualitative research method was used wherein twenty study participants (midwives) purposively selected in the targeted locale were interviewed using a Semi-Structured Interview (SSI). The collected data was secured in the form of field notes which were subsequently analyzed while extracting four themes including (i) involvement of the client's family (ii) misinterpretation about the use of contraception (iii) contraception availability (iv) religious perspective on contraception. This study concluded that midwives are facing challenges from family, culture, and community while providing postpartum contraceptive counseling to rural women. Furthermore, the study also concluded that the personal choices, values, and religious beliefs of women also pose a significant challenge for midwives in providing contraceptive counseling to rural women in Pakistan.

**Keywords:** Contraceptive, Counselling, Midwives, Challenges, Availability

Authors:

Amna Iftikhar: (Corresponding Author)

M.Phil Scholar, Department of Sociology, University of the

Punjab, Lahore, Punjab, Pakistan.

(Email: amnaifthekhar.sociologist@gmail.com)

Khalil ur Rahman: Associate Professor, Department of Sociology, Hazara

University, Mansehra, KP, Pakistan.

Umar Ali: M.Phil Scholar, Department of Sociology, Hazara University, Mansehra, KP, Pakistan.

Pages: 191-200

DOI:10.31703/gsr.2024(IX-I).17

DOI link: https://dx.doi.org/10.31703/gsr.2024(IX-I).17
Article link: http://www.gsrjournal.com/article/A-b-c

Full-text Link: <a href="https://gsrjournal.com/fulltext/">https://gsrjournal.com/fulltext/</a>

Pdf link: https://www.gsrjournal.com/jadmin/Auther/31rvIolA2.pdf







# Humanity Publications (HumaPub)



www.humapub.com
Doi:https://dx.doi.org/10.31703

## Citing Article

		Exploring the Experiences of Midwives in the Provision of Postpartum Contraceptive Counselling to Rural Women in Pakistan: A Qualitative Approach						
17		Author	thor Amna Iftikhar Khalil ur Rahman Umar Ali		DOI	10.31703/gsr.2024(IX-I).17		
Pages		191-200	Year	2024	Volume	IX	Issue	I
	APA		Iftikhar, A., Rahman, K. u., & Ali, U. (2024). Exploring the Experiences of Midwives in the Provision of Postpartum Contraceptive Counselling to Rural Women in Pakistan: A Qualitative Approach. <i>Global Regional Review, IX</i> (I), 191–200. <a href="https://doi.org/10.31703/gsr.2024(IX-I).17">https://doi.org/10.31703/gsr.2024(IX-I).17</a>					
Referencing & Citing Styles	CHICAGO		Iftikhar, Amna, Khalil ur Rahman, and Umar Ali. 2024. "Exploring the Experiences of Midwives in the Provision of Postpartum Contraceptive Counselling to Rural Women in Pakistan: A Qualitative Approach." <i>Global Regional Review</i> IX (I): 191–200. doi: 10.31703/gsr.2024(IX-I).17.					
	HARVARD		IFTIKHAR, A., RAHMAN, K. U. & ALI, U. 2024. Exploring the Experiences of Midwives in the Provision of Postpartum Contraceptive Counselling to Rural Women in Pakistan: A Qualitative Approach. <i>Global Regional Review</i> , IX, 191-200.					
	MHRA		Iftikhar, Amna, Khalil ur Rahman, and Umar Ali. 2024. 'Exploring the Experiences of Midwives in the Provision of Postpartum Contraceptive Counselling to Rural Women in Pakistan: A Qualitative Approach', <i>Global Regional Review</i> , IX: 191–200.					
	MLA		Iftikhar, Amna, Khalil ur Rahman, and Umar Ali. "Exploring the Experiences of Midwives in the Provision of Postpartum Contraceptive Counselling to Rural Women in Pakistan: A Qualitative Approach." <i>Global Regional Review</i> IX.I (2024): 191–200. Print.					
	OXFORD		Iftikhar, Amna, Rahman, Khalil ur, and Ali, Umar (2024), 'Exploring the Experiences of Midwives in the Provision of Postpartum Contraceptive Counselling to Rural Women in Pakistan: A Qualitative Approach', <i>Global Regional Review</i> , IX (I), 191–200.					
	TURABIAN		Iftikhar, Amna, Khalil ur Rahman, and Umar Ali. "Exploring the Experiences of Midwives in the Provision of Postpartum Contraceptive Counselling to Rural Women in Pakistan: A Qualitative Approach." <i>Global Regional Review</i> IX, no. I (2024): 191–200. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.31703/gsr.2024(IX-I).17">https://dx.doi.org/10.31703/gsr.2024(IX-I).17</a> .					





**Volume:** IX (2024) **Issue:** I-Winter (March-2024) p-ISSN: 2708-3586 **e-ISSN:** 2708-2091



Pages: 191-200

# Global Sociological Review

www.gsrjournal.com

DOI: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.31703/gsr">http://dx.doi.org/10.31703/gsr</a>

URL: <a href="https://doi.org/10.31703/gsr.2024(IX-I).17">https://doi.org/10.31703/gsr.2024(IX-I).17</a>



Doi: 10.31703/gsr.2024(IX-II).17











#### Title

Exploring the Experiences of Midwives in the Provision of Postpartum Contraceptive Counselling to Rural Women in Pakistan: A Qualitative Approach

#### Authors:

Amna Iftikhar: (Corresponding Author)

M.Phil Scholar, Department of Sociology, University of the Punjab, Lahore, Punjab, Pakistan.

(Email: amnaifthekhar.sociologist@gmail.com)

Khalil ur Rahman: Associate Professor, Department of Sociology, Hazara University, Mansehra, KP, Pakistan.

Umar Ali: M.Phil Scholar, Department of Sociology, Hazara University, Mansehra, KP, Pakistan.

#### Abstract

This study was conducted to examine the challenges faced by midwives in providing postpartum contraceptive counseling services to women in the rural area of Lahore city of Punjab Province, Pakistan. A qualitative research method was used wherein twenty study participants (midwives) purposively selected in the targeted locale were interviewed using a Semi-Structured Interview (SSI). The collected data was secured in the form of field notes which were subsequently analyzed while extracting four themes including (i) involvement of the client's family (ii) misinterpretation about the use of contraception (iii) contraception availability (iv) religious perspective on contraception. This study concluded that midwives are facing challenges from family, culture, and community while providing postpartum contraceptive counseling to rural women. Furthermore, the study also concluded that the personal choices, values, and religious beliefs of women also pose a significant challenge for midwives in providing contraceptive counseling to rural women in Pakistan.

## Keywords:

Contraceptive, Counselling, Midwives, Challenges, Availability

#### Contents

- Introduction
- **Postpartum** Contraceptive Counselling
- Problem Statement and Aim of the Study
  - Literature Review
- Research Method Study Participants
- Data Analysis
- Result and Discussion
- Family Involvement
- Misconceptions in the Use of Contraceptives
- Availability of
- Contraceptive Methods
- Religious Reasons
- Conclusion
- References

#### Introduction

Being a developing country, Pakistan has reported a higher maternal and child mortality (276 per 100000, every twenty minutes with the death of a mother during childbirth (PDHS, 2006-2007). Various factors are responsible for such an alarmingly high ratio of child and maternal mortality including lack of reproductive health services, poor infrastructure, illiteracy, lack of family planning especially planned

pregnancies, contraceptive use, and unintended childbirth practices, especially among the rural population in the country. Studies have reported that birth attendants give only 39% of their service to clients having skills and specialized knowledge of the subject. Despite World Health Organization (WHO) recommendations, many developing countries including Pakistan have always struggled to make progress in mother health before and after pregnancy.





Coumminuty-based health attendants and ladies' health workers were introduced by the Government of Pakistan to ensure the health of mothers and newborns, who have been tasked to provide reproductive-related guidance and information to women of childbearing age. Despite these meritorious measures of the government, no visible health outcomes have been achieved in the country.

In pregnancy time reproductive health service is an essential need for women. The most significant time for counseling a childbearing woman is during the postpartum period and post-abortion cycles and these women are usually coming in contact with the midwives. Midwives provide facilities to all areas as health care experts during pregnancy. They also offer their services to newborn babies on the basis of cultural knowledge and awareness. In health care counseling and knowledge, midwives play a significant role for women, family, and community (Kolak et al., <u>2017</u>; Höglund & Larsson, <u>2019</u>). Pakistan has been trying to solve the issue of women before and after pregnancy like other developing countries with the help of a developing national health infrastructure network.

## Postpartum Contraceptive Counselling

Contraceptive is a method of birth control. The contraception course Scheme introduced for Midwives is specific to pregnant women working in childcare centers. In this scheme midwives' provides an immersive day of scenario-based learning, demonstrations, discussion time, questions, and roleplaying (Kolak et al., 2017; Skogsdal, 2018). In a time of one year after delivery women return to their previous condition of ovulation at that time, so those women who do not take postpartum contraceptive counseling and care may suffer from unexpected, untimed, and unintended pregnancy. In order to help women of childbearing age and control the maternal mortality ratio, the government has appointed ladies' health workers and midwives to assist women, especially in the rural areas of Pakistan. These midwives are usually confronted by various challenges including religious beliefs, traditional norms, and stereotypical knowledge during the provision of contraceptive counseling. The purpose of this study is to get information about the counseling methods given by midwives to rural women also their characteristics and challenges faced by midwives(dais) during postpartum contraceptive counseling. Furthermore, due to many factors, midwives are not able to provide guidelines on the use of modern contraceptive methods due to geographical, economic, traditional, and social factors. The major challenge faced by midwives related to healthcare problems is mainly linked to traditional beliefs and faith in rural areas (Kazi, 2009; Tabassum, 2014).

International evidence shows that 20% of childbirth-related deaths and 90% of abortion deaths could be prevented by routine use of contraceptives among women who wish to postpone or are unable to have another child (Cleland et al., 2006). Women have freedom through family planning in decisionmaking about another pregnancy, and space between pregnancy and their sexual health to save themselves from unwanted pregnancies. This suggestion shows that family planning is an important and beneficial health policy with effective results (not only for women's and child health but also for sex and reproductive health) (Vernon, 2009; Crowthe, 2018; Nigussie et al., 2021) moreover, family planning programs plays its main role by reducing the fertility from six births to almost three per women by taking modern contraceptive methods and services regularly mostly in low and middle-income countries (Cleland et al., 2006).

## Problem Statement and Aim of the Study

The government of Pakistan is committed to controlling the major burden of mother health during pregnancy and child death ratio in the country by improving reproductive-related infrastructure, facilities, and other community outreach programs however these policy measures and programs have witnessed serious challenges at the gross root level. One of the significant policy measures was the induction of midwifery and lady's health workers who were being tasked with the provision of knowledge, guidance, and support to rural women regarding reproductive health, planned pregnancies, and

appropriate childbirth spaces to avoid unplanned and mistimed pregnancies. It has been observed that these services have received unprecedented challenges at the community level and the program has witnessed minimal impact and outcomes. This study was planned to explore the community-based challenges and barriers faced by the programs and policy measures already introduced by the government for improving reproductive health and awareness among women.

#### Literature Review

In developing countries, approximately 215 million women have unfulfilled desires for modern contraception (Singh et al., 2009). Studies have revealed that 22% of married women use modern methods of contraceptives whereas 17.7% use contraception methods in rural women in Pakistan. Further, 55% of married women report needing contraception, and 25% of married women currently have inadequate need (26.5% in remote urban areas, 31% in the lowest-income women, with the highest demand). Reasons for the unfulfilled wants are the service quality, cost barriers, and equity are cited here (Pakistan Demographic and Health Survey, 2006-2007). There is a need for proper family planning because approximately 27% of women are at risk of unwanted pregnancy (Pakistan Demographic Health Survey 2006; Tsui et al., <u>2010</u>).

In the context of developing countries such as Sri Lanka, India, Indonesia, and African countries reduce maternal mortality by introducing community-based programs and improving the condition of trained healthcare workers. The success of these measures depends on many factors such as the establishment of the health system, strong transmission and connection, transportation, and the existence of emergency services. Childcare programs have been successful in reducing maternal mortality by increasing the number of health service providers (Mavalankar, Vora & Prakasamma, 2008).15% obstetric complications and high levels of pregnancies are not managed by midwives because they are not

enough qualified according to the State of World Midwifery Report (Ten Hoope-Bender et al., 2011).

In order to fulfill the growing need for reproductive services, the government of Pakistan has introduced a variety of measures including the establishment of thousands of health centers and community health workers that provide maternal and child health services to rural communities. Bhutta, 2004; Tabbassam, 2014). The Ministry of Health also trained many traditional midwives to provide and improve maternal and child care. In 1994, another group of community health workers, Health Women (LHW), was formed to provide health education, child care, immunizations, referrals, family services, primary health care. Furthermore, the government of Pakistan updated the program in 2006, related to mother and newborn health before and after pregnancy and introduced newly trained birth attendants to provide their services at the home-based level called (CMWs) community midwives (MNCH,

Despite policy measures on reproductive health and family planning in Pakistan, there is still a low level of use of adaptation of reproductive services including contraceptive methods during the postpartum period among rural women in Pakistan. The most prominent barriers to modern contraceptives in rural areas are structural, religious, traditional, and socio-economic factors. The high cost of contraceptives, growing doubts about side effects, and income inequality are the additional factors contributing to the lack of use of contraceptive counseling and uses.

Another barrier to the use of contraceptive counseling is the social acceptance of the services of midwives in rural areas. Midwives face many barriers and challenges while providing postpartum contraceptive counseling because rural women lack knowledge about the use of contraceptives. So, there is a need for counseling in every health center in rural areas on a regular basis for all pregnant women in the time when they need the counseling. Rural women require knowledge and awareness regarding the appropriate and needed methods of contraceptives.

Vol. IX, No. I (Winter 2024)

Besides, it is necessary to increase the level of information about the use of contraceptive methods among rural women. It is also important to develop and implement postnatal family planning in rural areas by integrating it with those health services that are socially accepted.

The literature shows ineffective implementation of family planning policies due to low levels of funding and lack of political involvement in it (Grollman et al., 2018). Some studies in the literature link the poor performance of family planning indicators and lack of access to routine contraceptives with the lack of appropriate family planning methods. Literature shows many other factors in low-income countries like unskilled healthcare workers, lack of family planning, and low levels of contraceptive counseling and services (Cavallaro et al., 2019; Crowther et al., 2018). Three factors make a difference in family planning results; forbearing preferences and attitudes, health care factors, and patient-related factors (Dehlendorf et al., 2007). Contraceptive use varies according to culture, age, gender, schooling, profession, family characteristics, acceptance availability, motivation, and contraceptives. Beyond any doubt, religion and culture have an impact on the traditional and social structure of society. Low level of knowledge, bad behavior, and treatment of side effects are barriers to the use of contraceptives.

Education and advocacy of rural midwives have the potential to meet women's unmet needs for these procedures. Midwives in rural settings understand the demands of rural women regarding contraceptives to fulfill their needs properly. It is possible that the greater use of contraceptive methods may be due to women's preferences, independent of the pregnant woman's financial support (Weaver et al., 2013). The latest study held in low and middle-income countries on the use of contraceptive decision-making, this study showed that a low level of male involvement in family planning programs and policies proved to be an important obstacle to women's reproductive rights in terms of their ability and freedom of choice and decide to adopt a modern contraceptive method. Due to a lack interest of in their partner, women also show

a lack of interest in using or continuing these methods properly (Karra & Zhang, 2021).

#### Research Method

This paper is a part of our M.Phil research which deals with examining the challenges faced by midwives in providing postpartum contraceptive counseling services to women in rural areas of Lahore city of Punjab Province, Pakistan. We used Qualitative Method Research (QMR) where 20 midwives were purposively selected from the targeted area for indepth interviewing. The data was collected from the rural areas of Lahore.

## **Study Participants**

We purposively selected midwives who have a few years of counseling experience. Due to the diversity of rural areas, it is not possible to interview all midwives in one place. We informed the midwives about the timing and place of the interview. Interviews with all participants were conducted face to face in the local language Urdu, transcribed verbatim, and later analyzed.

## Data Analysis

These questions were asked of almost all the participants, what is the procedure for counseling? Do you face barriers while giving contraceptive advice to rural women? About spousal reaction on the use of contraceptives? Is there any authoritative role of mother-in-law in rural areas in the use of these methods? The perspective of rural women on the side effects of these methods? Is there any relation between religion and contraceptive use that is more difficult than expected in rural areas?

Read the research participants' descriptions of the above-mentioned problems several times to familiarize yourself with the research data to analyze all descriptions and analyses of problems, problems, and solutions expressed by the research participants. After thoroughly reviewing participants' narratives, four themes emerged: (1) Involvement of the client's family (husband, mother-in-law), (2) Misinterpretation about the use of contraception (side

effects), (3) Contraception availability, (4) Religious perspective on contraception). The themes are discussed with the help of a few selected narrations of some study participants in the discussion section. Because of the sensitive nature of the study especially when the participants are asked to tell personal stories regarding their personal views about family planning counseling, we decided not to use even pseudonyms rather we preferred to use the word "midwives' study participants while referring to their narratives in the discussion section.

#### Result and Discussion

The collected data through in-depth interviews with selected midwives was thematically analyzed because the chosen technique offers an opportunity for an indepth and systematic examination of the topic under study. For the accuracy and interpretation of the results, the collected data was read multiple times, various texts, patterns, and text excerpts were grouped, and described and themes were being extracted.

## Family Involvement

One of the most highlighted factors highlighted by midwives in providing postpartum contraceptives to women was the family system. In the targeted locale of the study, most childbearing women were in joint family networks thus getting little chances of reproductive choices, autonomy, and freedom. As revealed by the midwives, the reproductive decision was usually guided by mothers-in-law in a joint family network. Any idea, decision, and problem pertaining to reproductive health is predominantly spearheaded by the mother-in-law. They favor or disfavor the decision of contraceptive use of the daughter-in-law. However, educational financial conditions, and general awareness of women also played a significant role in reproductive decisions and autonomy. Furthermore, husbands in rural areas often dictate the reproductive decisions of their wives as a consequence midwives are facing challenges in the provision of counselling services. Most of the participants highlighted the situation of restrictions on

women on the use of contraceptive methods in rural settings. One of the study participants talked about the dominant role of husband and family in the reproductive decisions of women.

Women are not allowed to use and take contraceptive-related counseling and adopt means of contraceptives because their husband usually thinks that this disturbs their sexual lives. As a consequence, the husband doesn't allow their wife to use condoms or any other means of contraception. Moreover, husbands usually prefer a large number of babies therefore they don't allow their wives to use these birth control methods.

Another participant has highlighted the potential involvement of mother-in-law in reproductive health, and birth spacing.

Mothers-in-law in joint family systems are usually powerful and they exercise a lot of control and authority in manipulating the decision of reproductive health. Under the traditional economic system of the family, all resources are managed by these elder women. If any woman of childbearing age intends to seek a doctor or express her need for medicine, the mothers-in-law accompany them to see the doctor for a medical check-up. Under these circumstances, daughters-in-law cannot decide on their own for contraceptive use or adopt any other means of birth spacing or birth control.

Another participant narrated the influence of joint family networks and the use of contraceptives after postpartum treatment.

Although traditions in rural areas are swiftly changing, however, a woman of childbearing age is still facing tremendous social pressure inside the joint family network. She is often asked, pressured, and intimidated by her husband, and in-laws for frequent pregnancies, and they are often discouraged when she demands for birth space or planned pregnancies. Living under immense pressure, some women do not express their free will and choice while compromising their health for repeated rapid childbirth.

It is evident from the participant narratives that the challenges faced by midwives are mostly due to cultural factors. Family members including mothers-

Vol. IX, No. I (Winter 2024)

in-law are deeply involved in the reproductive health decisions of women in rural settings. The data indicate as revealed by midwives that because of the involvement of mother-in-laws and other family members, postpartum counseling to the women is very difficult and they usually visit and meet such rural women in the absence of their in-laws at their house. This study highlighted many challenges faced by midwives and these challenges are deeply embedded in religious beliefs, traditions, and social norms. Many rural families create fear in women's minds by giving them references to religion. Our study highlights while contextualizing the existing literature that the associated beliefs, traditions, and norms are drastically changing and women are slowly feeling the need for reproductive autonomy and decision-making with regard to their reproductive health. Consequently, families are now accepting the choices of women in the use of contraceptive methods to secure their position and status in society and allow their females to receive counseling from midwives.

## Misconceptions in the Use of Contraceptives

Provision of reproductive health services is a difficult task because it is considered one of the socially and culturally sensitive topics. People usually avoid discussing such topics and the service providers, medical practitioners, and health professionals are looked upon with suspected eyes by the rural community. By and large, people view these services are doubtful and having serious health implications for mother and child. Some illiterate women, husbands, and family members considered this as a Western agenda and conspiracy to minimize the family size. Based on the narratives of this study's participants, due to the typical point of view of rural people midwives face many barriers. Under such circumstances, medical professionals such as ladies' health workers and midwives are often working under serious threat and intimidation. As one of the midwives narrated the story of her client as

When my husband does not feel sexual pleasure, he immediately asks me to stop meeting with midwives otherwise it will have serious consequences. They often perceive contraceptives and means of birth control as seriously detrimental to health and children. They believe that these measures will undermine the fertility and childbearing capacity of women in the long run.

### Another respondent added that

One of my clients told me that the use of contraceptives has reduced my sexual desire as a result my husband has forcefully stopped me from the further use of these methods. He warned me to stop taking further advice from medical practitioners by saying that these methods are highly suspicious and have great health repercussions in the future.

In rural areas, most women feel no hesitation while expressing their health concerns and are eager to take contraceptive counseling. The majority of the midwives stated in their interviews that the feeling of shyness was slightly higher among women with higher educational levels. They were reluctant to share their issues pertaining to reproductive health and pregnancies. The findings reveal that the method of contraceptives may have some side effects too like sexual disturbance, bleeding, and pain because of these issues rural women contact midwives to take medicine and advice from them. For better outcomes, midwives initially build rapport building with these women, take them into confidence, and ensure their confidentiality and anonymity.

## Availability of Contraceptive Methods

The government has made every possible effort to facilitate women of childbearing age by providing health services and contraceptive methods. Rural health centers and basic health units in rural areas are provided sufficient facilities for contraceptive methods to fulfill the needs of the population. There are no accessibility and scarcity problems at the level of medical settings. Women are properly educated, guided, and trained in the use of contraceptives, their timing, and care. Some of my participants responded:

First of all, we consult with our customers and teach them how to use these methods, when to use them, what are the procedures for using these methods, and the protection methods they use. After the consultation, we provide them with these

applications, but sometimes customers tell us which type they want to use.

In rural areas, women have the availability of contraceptive methods by midwives. Some of my participants responded that;

Women have their own preferences. They tell us the details at the beginning and we provide guidance and support according to their needs and requirements. We provide detailed information about each method and then give them instructions to use the method they prefer. First, we show them the advantages and disadvantages of each method, and then the client chooses the type of model they want to use.

Some midwives talked about the emergency situation in rural settings;" according to the demand of women we provide them these methods but in case of emergency we give them advice and refer them to hospital. Sadness on a face of some participants while told stories that:

We have these opportunities, but upper-class families in rural areas do not accept anything from midwives (us) due to hygiene problems and they are willing enough to insult us by asking us to wash our hands first. That's why women from the upper family went to the hospital to consult their doctors for us.

The interpretation shows that midwives face many problems during contraceptive counseling. it is very difficult to deal with all the obstructing factors of contraceptive counseling especially the personal values, beliefs, and social background of the users. Likewise, structural factors including poverty, lack of accessibility, awareness, education, and social inequality are the potential factors affecting the use of contraceptives among rural women. Furthermore, women belonging to affluent families with educational backgrounds often disregard the services and advice of the midwives while considering these as unhygienic, unsafe, and substandard. They usually do not trust the counseling provided by midwives and generally rely on seeking private medical services if needed. These families always want to approach the doctor due to reliability and safety as compared to midwives for advice and treatment.

## Religious Reasons

The relationship between religion and contraceptive use in rural areas is more complex than expected. Religious rejection of birth control in rural areas often prevents the use of these contraceptive methods because most Islamic traditions and thoughts allow the use of birth control when the parents are involved or the health of the family may be affected. This study revealed that pregnant women face many problems while providing postnatal care to rural women due to many factors such as religious unacceptability of contraception. Pregnant women may find themselves in difficult cultural situations when providing contraceptive counseling across cultural and social contexts. In rural areas, culture and religion become the main reasons why these couples do not accept these birth control methods. In rural areas, different religious traditions exist and it is the choice of women and their partners whether to follow their religious teaching or not. Some of my participants highlighted some facts by the seriousness on their faces;

In rural areas, different communities have different religious points of view, some are flexible in their thoughts as compared to others we face restrictions on the Islamic point of view more in the Pathan community in villages rather than Punjabi community. Pathan community most of the time refuses to take counseling on contraceptive methods.

Pregnant women face many problems due to the influence of rural women's religious beliefs or religious practices, especially the actions of rural women. One of the participants said that the storyline

I have encountered many religious restrictions, but the advice I give them is that abortion is a sin, but a gap in a pregnancy is not a sin. Because sometimes many women may experience abnormal pregnancy due to multiple factors. But in rural areas, most women think the gap in pregnancy is a sin, so I encounter many problems when counseling them.

Islam opposes sterilization and abortion, emphasizing that childbearing is a religious duty in the family, and is of the opinion that midwives have a problem during counseling. Some participants responded with seriousness on their faces;

Vol. IX, No. I (Winter 2024)

When we advise them with the help of Islamic quotes, we use religious perspectives so that they can easily relate to everyone, just as we often say quotes from Surah Al-Imran, the advice to us is: You will marry when you are able to provide for yourself rather than family.

Due to a lack of education among rural women, midwives face many problems in providing contraceptive counseling in rural areas, resulting in delays in seeking counseling for them (rural women). They are also being challenged by rural communities and religious sentiments. Despite personal beliefs against the use of antibiotics, there is disagreement among experts on the recommendation to prevent infection. The study reveals that midwives counter a variety of challenges in the provision of contraceptive counseling to women in the rural communities of Pakistan. It is revealed that the personal values and religious convictions of any particular individual may obstruct the process of counseling at any given point. Structural barriers also play a negative role in the propagation of reproductive health information and cultural sensitivities surrounding the matter may hamper the progress and development in this regard. Some people are challenged and oppressed under familial norms of obedience which are potentially guiding women's reproductive choices, decisions, and autonomy. Considering all the barriers and challenges in the way of post-partum contraceptive counseling is still considered a challenging task by midwives despite spending years in the rural community in Pakistan. Policymakers, legislators, administrators, relevant stakeholders, and health professionals need to develop socially viable and culturally acceptable measures to address the complexities involved in the reproductive health of women in Pakistan.

### Conclusion

This study shows that midwives face many problems when providing postpartum counseling to rural women: the nature of the participant, the personal values of the client, the involvement of the client's family, misunderstanding regarding the use of contraceptives, religious rejection of contraceptive use and contraception to prevent unwanted pregnancy. Midwives may find themselves in difficult cultural situations when providing contraceptive counseling across communities with diverse social and cultural backgrounds. Rural midwives face many challenges while addressing socially and culturally sensitive services. Because of the diverse social, religious, and cultural backgrounds, communities are difficult to convince through a pre-packaged message regarding reproductive services. For instance, people disregard proper childbirth space and plan pregnancy on religious grounds thus making it difficult for the health professional to change their personal notions and religiosity. The biggest challenge that midwives in rural areas face when providing contraceptive counseling is the 'bad faith' associated with contraceptive use. Our research suggests that midwives' experiences of rural women's religious endeavors or religious practices may influence rural lifestyles, including pregnancy contraceptive use. According to some schools of thought, Islam has emphasized the religious duty of reproduction in the family and is therefore united against sterilization and abortion. Because of this perception, midwives encounter problems when providing consultancy. Besides, health professionals especially midwives are challenged by family elders under the pretext of family honor, control, and norms of obedience thus making it difficult for them to challenge strong family bonding and the social disfavor of reproductive health counseling. Another important factor in postpartum contraceptive counseling is the socioeconomic status and cultural subordination of women by husbands and families in Pakistan. This study provides deeper insights into the barriers and challenges in the dispensation of reproductive health services through the standpoint of midwives who are deeply associated with women of childbearing age in the rural areas of Pakistan.

References

Bhutta, Z. A. (2004). Maternal and child health in Pakistan: Challenges and opportunities. Karachi, Pakistan: Oxford University Press.

Google Scholar Worldcat Fulltext

Cavallaro, F. L., Benova, L., Owolabi, O. O., & Ali, M. (2019). A systematic review of the effectiveness of counselling strategies for modern contraceptive methods: what works and what doesn't? BMJ Sexual Reproductive Health, *46*(4), 254-269. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjsrh-2019-200377 Google Scholar Worldcat **Fulltext** 

Cleland, J., Bernstein, S., Ezeh, A., Faundes, A., Glasier, A., & Innis, J. (2006). Family planning: the unfinished *368*(9549), agenda. Lancet, 1810-1827. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(06)69480-4 Google Scholar Worldcat **Fulltext** 

Crowther, S., Smythe, L., & Spence, D. (2018). Unsettling moods in rural midwifery practice. Women and Birth, e59-e66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wombi.2017.06.019 Google Scholar Worldcat **Fulltext** 

Grollman, C., Cavallaro, F. L., Duclos, D., Bakare, V., Álvarez, M. M., & Borghi, J. (2018). Donor funding for family planning: levels and trends between 2003 and 2013. Health Policy and Planning, 33(4), 574-582. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapol/czv006 Google Scholar Worldcat **Fulltext** 

Höglund, B., & Larsson, M. (2019). Midwives' work and attitudes towards contraceptive counselling and contraception among women with intellectual disability: focus group interviews in Sweden. The European Journal of Contraception & Reproductive Health *24*(1), Care, 39-44. https://doi.org/10.1080/13625187.2018.1555640 Google Scholar **Fulltext** <u>Worldcat</u>

Karra, M., & Zhang, K. (2021). User-Centered Counseling and male involvement in contraceptive decision making: protocol for a Randomized Controlled Trial. JMIR Research Protocols, 10(4), e24884. https://doi.org/10.2196/24884 Google Scholar Worldcat **Fulltext** 

Kazi, K. (2009). A study of knowledge, attitude and practice (KAP) of family planning among the women

of rural Karachi [Unpublished master's thesis]. University of Karachi.

Google Scholar Worldcat Fulltext

Kolak, M., Jensen, C., & Johansson, M. (2017). Midwives' experiences of providing contraception counselling to immigrant women. Sexual & Reproductive Healthcare, 12, 100-106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.srhc.2017.04.002 Google Scholar Worldcat **Fulltext** 

Mavalankar, D. (2008).Achieving Millennium Development Goal 5: is India serious? Bulletin of the Health Organization, 86(4), https://doi.org/10.2471/blt.07.048454 Google Scholar Worldcat **Fulltext** 

Nigussie, K., Degu, G., Chanie, H., & Edemealem, H. (2021). Magnitude of unintended pregnancy and associated factors among pregnant women in Debre Markos Town, East Gojjam Zone, northwest Ethiopia: a Cross-Sectional study. International Journal of Women S Health, Volume 13, 129–139. https://doi.org/10.2147/ijwh.s275346 Google Scholar Worldcat **Fulltext** 

Singh, S., Darroch, J. E., Ashford, L. S., & Vlassoff, M. (2009). Adding it up: the costs and benefits of investing in family planning and maternal and https://www.guttmacher.org/pubs/AddingItUp2009. pdf Google Scholar Worldcat **Fulltext** 

Skogsdal, Y. R. E., Karlsson, J. Å., Cao, Y., Fadl, H. E., & Tydén, T. A. (2018). Contraceptive use and reproductive intentions among women requesting contraceptive counseling. Acta Obstetricia Et Gynecologica Scandinavica, 97(11), 1349–1357. https://doi.org/10.1111/aogs.13426 Google Scholar Worldcat **Fulltext** 

Tabbassam, H. F., & Menhas, R. (2014). Role of

Community Midwife in Maternal Health Care System in Rural Areas of Pakistan.

Google Scholar Worldcat **Fulltext** 

Ten Hoope-Bender, P. (2011). The state of the world's midwifery 2011: Delivering health, saving lives. International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics, *114*(3), 211–212.

Google Scholar Worldcat <u>Fulltext</u>

Vol. IX, No. II (Winter 2024) 199 | Page Tsui, A. O., McDonald-Mosley, R., & Burke, A. E. (2010). Family planning and the burden of unintended pregnancies. *Epidemiologic Reviews*, *32*(1), 152–174. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1093/epirev/mxq012">https://doi.org/10.1093/epirev/mxq012</a>

Google Scholar Worldcat Fulltext

Vernon, R. (2009). Meeting the family planning needs of postpartum women. *Studies in Family Planning*, 40(3), 235–245. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1728-4465.2009.00206.x">https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1728-4465.2009.00206.x</a>
<a href="Google Scholar">Google Scholar</a>
<a href="Worldcat">Worldcat</a>
<a href="Fulltext">Fulltext</a>